RECEIVED

Oct 27 2022

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

Appeal from Greenville County
Court of Common Pleas

Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-23-00473

Court of Appeals Case No. 2019-001955
Unpublished Opinion No. 2022-UP-203 (S.C. Ct. App. filed May 18, 2022)

Supreme Court Case No. 2022-001406

Estate of Patricia Royston, by and through
the appointed Personal Representative, Marianne McCoig,
Individually, and on behalf of the statutory beneficiaries, Respondent,

v.

Hunt Valley Holdings, LLC
a/k/a Fundamental Long Term Care Holdings, LLC;
Fundamental Clinical and Operational Services, LLC;

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the circuit court’s denial of the Facility’s motion to compel Plaintiff’s³ claims against it to arbitration and, in turn, in affirming the circuit court’s denial of the Other Defendants’ corresponding motions to stay this litigation as to them pending the ultimate outcome of the Facility’s motion and the conclusion of any/all arbitration proceedings between Plaintiff and the Facility?**
- A. Did the Court of Appeals err in not finding that the circuit court erred in finding that “[t]he Arbitration Agreement is not a valid and enforceable agreement because it was not signed by the party seeking its enforcement”?**
- 1. Did the Court of Appeals err in not recognizing the circuit court’s incorrect conclusion that “[t]here is no evidence the Arbitration Agreement was signed by [Ms.] Royston during the admission process and provided to [the Facility]”?**
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err in not recognizing the circuit court’s incorrect conclusion that there was a lack of mutual assent because the Facility did not sign the Arbitration Agreement?**
- B. Did the Court of Appeals err in not finding that the circuit court erred in finding that the Arbitration Agreement is not a valid and enforceable agreement because “[t]he parties on the Arbitration Agreement are not those parties specifically listed in this lawsuit”?**

³ “Plaintiff” refers to Plaintiff/Respondent, Marianne McCoig.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff, individually and as personal representative of the estate of her late mother, Patricia Royston (“Ms. Royston”), filed this wrongful death and survival action in the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas on January 31, 2019, asserting claims arising out of alleged deficiencies in the care/treatment Ms. Royston received when she was a resident of the Facility in December 2016. (R. pp. 14–74, pp. 444–45.)

The Facility moved to compel Plaintiff’s claims against it to arbitration (the “Motion to Compel Arbitration”) pursuant to an Arbitration Agreement it contended Ms. Royston had signed in conjunction with her admission to the Facility. (R. pp. 225–28, pp. 235–71.)⁴ While, admittedly, the Facility was unable to find the Arbitration Agreement among its own records,⁵ a copy—bearing what purports to be Ms. Royston’s signature, though unsigned by/on behalf of the Facility itself⁶—was found in Ms. Royston’s personal effects and produced to the Facility by Plaintiff’s counsel. (R. p. 5.)

The Other Defendants filed motions to stay this case as to them until the arbitrability issue the Facility raised (i.e., the issue raised by the Motion to Compel

⁴ Prior to moving to compel arbitration, the Facility had timely answered Plaintiff’s complaint. (R. pp. 75–97.) Its answer was expressly made “*subject to and without waiving its rights to compel this matter to arbitration.*” (R. p. 75 (emphasis in original).)

⁵ (R. p. 180:7–18, p. 239.)

⁶ (R. p. 228.)

Arbitration) was finally determined and any/all arbitration proceedings were concluded (the “Motions to Stay”). (R. pp. 229–34, pp. 372–98.)⁷

The motions were heard in the circuit court on August 29, 2019, the Honorable Robin B. Stilwell presiding. (R. pp. 156–91.) The circuit court denied the Motion to Compel Arbitration by order filed October 9, 2019, finding the Arbitration Agreement invalid and unenforceable because (A) “[t]he Arbitration Agreement . . . was not signed by the party seeking its enforcement [(i.e., the Facility)]” and (B) “[t]he parties on the Arbitration Agreement are not those parties specifically listed in the lawsuit.” (R. pp. 1–8; *see also* R. p. 443.)⁸ And the

⁷ Prior to moving to stay, the Other Defendants had timely answered Plaintiff’s complaint, too. (R. pp. 98–155.)

⁸ The circuit court’s order effectively disposed of the Motions to Stay, too, though not on the merits. Again, the Motions to Stay seek a stay of this action until the arbitrability issue is determined with finality and any/all arbitration proceedings are concluded. (*See* R. pp. 229–34, pp. 372–98.) Obviously, the arbitrability issue will not be finally determined until this appeal is concluded, but the relationship between the Motion to Compel Arbitration and the Motions to Stay is such that, insofar as the circuit court was concerned, its denial of the former mooted the latter. (*See* R. pp. 189:12–190:7.) Thus, while the circuit court did not grant the relief the Other Defendants sought, it also did not rule against them on the merits. The final determination of the arbitrability issue in this appeal will, in turn, determine whether the Motions to Stay are moot, and not only that, a determination favorable to the Facility as to its appeal of the denial of the Motion to Compel Arbitration will, in turn, require a determination favorable to the Other Defendants as to their appeal of the denial of the Motions to Stay. *See* 9 U.S.C. § 3 (“If any suit or proceeding be brought in any of the courts of the United States upon any issue referable to arbitration under an agreement in writing for such arbitration, the court in which such suit is pending, upon being satisfied that the issue involved in such suit or proceeding is referable to arbitration under such an agreement, *shall* on application of one of the parties *stay* the trial of the action until

circuit court denied Petitioners’ timely Rule 59(e), SCRC, motion⁹ by order filed October 23, 2019. (R. pp. 9–10.)

This appeal timely followed by notice served November 20, 2019,¹⁰ and in due course, it was fully briefed and made ready for decision.

The Court of Appeals submitted the appeal for decision without oral argument during the April 2022 term and decided it on May 18, 2022, via the Subject Opinion, which affirmed the circuit court’s denial of the Motion to Compel Arbitration and the Motions to Stay. In affirming the circuit court, the Court of Appeals explained as follows:

The lack of a signature by a Facility representative and the absence of the Arbitration Agreement from the Facility’s files create an inference that Patricia Royston never accepted the Arbitration Agreement. Thus, we hold the record provides evidence that reasonably supports the circuit court’s finding that the Arbitration Agreement was not enforceable.

such arbitration has been had in accordance with the terms of the agreement, providing the applicant for the stay is not in default in proceeding with such arbitration.”) (emphasis added); *Stokes v. Metro. Life Ins. Co.*, 351 S.C. 606, 612, 571 S.E.2d 711, 715 (Ct. App. 2002) (“[The] FAA clearly requires a court stay ‘any suit or proceeding’ pending the arbitration of ‘any issue referable to arbitration under an agreement in writing for such arbitration’ upon the application of one of the parties.”); *see also Episcopal Housing Corp. v. Fed. Ins. Co.*, 269 S.C. 631, 641, 239 S.E.2d 647, 652 (1977) (“The fact that Federal is not a party to an arbitration agreement does not prevent an order staying the judicial proceedings pending arbitration between those who are parties to such an agreement.”).

⁹ (R. pp. 432–43.)

¹⁰ (R. pp. 446–50.)

Besides this, the Court of Appeals correctly recognized Plaintiff's concession that "the circuit court's statements concerning the relationships of the Facility with the [Other Defendants] are not binding on future proceedings"¹¹ and, finding its resolution of the prior issue (i.e., its finding that there is evidence in the record to support a reasonable inference that Ms. Royston never accepted the Arbitration Agreement) dispositive of the appeal, declined to address any remaining issues. And as explained above, the Court of Appeals denied Petitioners' timely petition for rehearing on September 7, 2022.

This petition for a writ of certiorari timely follows.¹²

¹¹ Out of an abundance of caution, Petitioners had argued to the Court of Appeals that the circuit court erred in stating as fact Plaintiff's contentions, which are denied and disputed, (a) that the Facility "is owned and operated by" HVH and (b) that "[a]ll Defendants are related entities of the [Facility] and have a significant relationship in the ownership, operation, and management of the [Facility], and derive significant economic benefit from its revenue." In the Subject Opinion, the Court of Appeals correctly recognized that any issue in this regard is moot, because, as Plaintiff concedes, the circuit court's statements are not binding.

¹² Because the Court of Appeals denied Petitioners' petition for rehearing on September 7, 2022, the original deadline for Petitioners to petition this Court for a writ of certiorari was October 7, 2022, pursuant to Rule 242(c), SCACR ("A petition for writ of certiorari shall be served on opposing counsel and filed with proof of service with the Clerk of the Court of Appeals and the Clerk of the Supreme Court within thirty (30) days after the petition for rehearing or reinstatement is finally decided by the Court of Appeals."); *see also* Rule 262(a). By order filed October 10, 2022, in response to Petitioners' motion of October 7, 2022, the Court extended the time for serving and filing the petition for a writ of certiorari until October 17, 2022. By order filed October 17, 2022, in response to Petitioners' motion of even date, the Court extended the time for serving and filing the petition for a writ of certiorari until today, October 27, 2022.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A circuit court's determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is reviewed de novo on appeal. *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). This includes de novo review of the determination of whether an arbitration agreement is enforceable against a nonsignatory. *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 334, 827 S.E.2d 167, 172 (2019). "Under de novo review, a circuit court's factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports those findings." *Id.* Issues of law, however, are reviewed without any particular deference to the circuit court. *See, e.g., Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 782 S.E.2d 590 (2016). Even where a ruling is on a matter within circuit court's discretion, if the ruling is based on a misunderstanding of the law, rather than upon the exercise of discretion, the question presented on appeal is one of law. *See Bain v. Self Mem'l Hosp.*, 281 S.C. 138, 152, 314 S.E.2d 603, 611 (Ct. App. 1984).

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the circuit court’s denial of the Motion to Compel Arbitration and, in turn, in affirming the circuit court’s denial of the Motions to Stay.¹³

To withstand appeal, the circuit court’s finding that the Arbitration Agreement is not enforceable must not rest on speculation. *Cf. The Huffines Co., LLC v. Lockhart*, 365 S.C. 178, 188, 617 S.E.2d 125, 130 (Ct. App. 2005) (“[V]erdicts may not be permitted to rest upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation.”). The Subject Opinion focused on the lack of a signature on the Arbitration Agreement by a Facility representative and the absence of the Arbitration Agreement from the Facility’s files, which two pieces of evidence the Court of Appeals found sufficient to create an inference that Ms. Royston never accepted the Arbitration Agreement and, thus, sufficient to constitute evidence that reasonably supports the circuit court’s finding that the Arbitration Agreement is not enforceable. But neither the lack of a signature on the Arbitration Agreement by a Facility representative nor the absence of the Arbitration Agreement from the Facility’s files nor these two facts in combination is in fact sufficient to give rise to a reasonable inference that Ms. Royston never accepted the Arbitration Agreement.

¹³ As explained in footnote 8, *supra*, the relationship between the Motion to Compel Arbitration and the Motions to Stay is such that the arguments in support of the Facility’s challenge to the denial of the Motion to Compel Arbitration (and the affirmance of that denial by the Court of Appeals) double as arguments in support of the Other Defendants’ challenge to the denial of the Motions to Stay (and the affirmance of that denial by the Court of Appeals).

Like the circuit court before it, the Court of Appeals erred by bridging the evidentiary gap between premise (that the Arbitration Agreement is not signed by a Facility representative and is absent from the Facility’s files) and conclusion (that Ms. Royston never accepted the Arbitration Agreement) with impermissible speculation. And having so erred, the Court of Appeals further erred in failing to recognize the other respects in which Petitioners demonstrated error on the part of the circuit court.

A. The Court of Appeals erred in not finding that the circuit court erred in finding that “[t]he Arbitration Agreement is not a valid and enforceable agreement because it was not signed by the party seeking its enforcement.”¹⁴

1. The Court of Appeals erred in not recognizing the circuit court’s incorrect conclusion that “[t]here is no evidence the Arbitration Agreement was signed by [Ms.] Royston during the admission process and provided to [the Facility].”¹⁵

As the circuit court itself states in its order denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration, the Arbitration Agreement “*was found in [Ms. Royston’s] personal effects and produced by the Plaintiff.*” (R. p. 5 (emphasis added).) Given that it was found in Ms. Royston’s personal effects, that it clearly bears what purports to be Ms. Royston’s signature,¹⁶ written in what cannot reasonably be denied to be the same hand as that which signed the Admission Agreement (the validity of

¹⁴ (R. p. 4.)

¹⁵ (R. p. 2.)

¹⁶ (R. p. 228.)

which Plaintiff does *not* dispute¹⁷) in Ms. Royston’s name,¹⁸ and that Plaintiff (Ms. Royston’s daughter) herself has not actually denied that Ms. Royston signed the document,¹⁹ the only reasonable conclusion capable of being drawn is that the signature on the Arbitration Agreement purporting to be Ms. Royston’s is in fact Ms. Royston’s.

As for whether Ms. Royston provided her signed Arbitration Agreement to the Facility, here again, the only reasonable conclusion is that she did. As Plaintiff herself made clear via her (unsuccessful) attempt to oppose the Motion to Compel Arbitration on the basis of unconscionability (which argument the circuit court did not find persuasive²⁰), and as the circuit court implicitly recognized, Ms. Royston did not create the Arbitration Agreement herself, rather it was presented to her by the Facility at the time of her admission. (R. p. 422 (“As is true in the present

¹⁷ (R. p. 400 (“[Ms. Royston] was admitted as a short-term resident into [the Facility] . . . according to the Admission contract. The Admission Agreement governed the type of care [Ms. Royston] would receive at the Facility and [her] financial obligation to pay for those services.”) (internal citation omitted), p. 174:9–11 ([Plaintiff’s counsel:] “[The Admission Agreement] was also not signed by the facility. But we’re not challenging the enforceability [of the Admission Agreement]”))

¹⁸ (*Compare* R. p. 228 *with* pp. 270–81.)

¹⁹ Plaintiff has done no more than refrain from admitting that the Arbitration Agreement bears her mother’s signature. (R. p. 401 (stating that Plaintiff “need[s] the original [Arbitration Agreement] to verify the authenticity and genuineness of the alleged signature of [Ms. Royston].”)) In other words, Plaintiff does not actually deny that the Arbitration Agreement bears her mother’s signature.

²⁰ (R. p. 443.)

action, facilities often present the [proposed arbitration] contract *after* the person decides to apply for admission”) (emphasis in original), p. 7 (regarding construing the Arbitration Agreement against the Facility as the drafting party).) In other words, it would not have been possible for the Arbitration Agreement to be found in Ms. Royston’s personal effects *unless* she had first received it from the Facility, and the time when she had to have received it from the Facility was the time of her admission.

The fact that the Facility has been unable to locate the Arbitration Agreement since the filing of this lawsuit in 2019 does not prove that Ms. Royston did not provide it to the Facility when she was admitted in 2016. Indeed, to conclude that Ms. Royston did not provide her signed Arbitration Agreement to the Facility requires adherence to the patently improbable, and wholly speculative,²¹ belief that Ms. Royston, being presented with the Arbitration Agreement by the Facility at the time of her admission, signed the agreement, presumably having “read, understood, and assented to its terms,”²² then switched gears and decided not to provide her signed agreement to the Facility, but nonetheless decided to keep the signed agreement among her personal effects. Moreover, this must be

²¹ *Cf. Huffines*, 365 S.C. at 188, 617 S.E.2d at 130 (“[V]erdicts may not be permitted to rest upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation.”).

²² *Gibson v. Epting*, 426 S.C. 346, 352, 827 S.E.2d 178, 181 (Ct. App. 2019) (“[O]ne who has signed a contract is presumed to have read, understood, and assented to its terms.”). To be clear, there is no question of Ms. Royston’s contractual capacity here.

believed in the face of the fact that what was found in Ms. Royston's personal effects was only a *copy* of the Arbitration Agreement, not the *original* document she actually signed. (R. p. 401 (stating that Plaintiff "need[s] the original [Arbitration Agreement] to verify the authenticity and genuineness of the alleged signature of [Ms. Royston]," thus confirming that the original was not found in Ms. Royston's personal effects), p. 173:7–8 ([Plaintiff's counsel:] "We can't authenticate this signature [purporting to be Ms. Royston's on the Arbitration Agreement] because nobody has the original.")) Respectfully, this belief, in which the Court of Appeals joined the circuit court in holding and on which the Subject Opinion, like the circuit court's decision before it, rests, is a logical bridge too far. The only reasonable conclusion capable of being drawn from the evidence is that, although the Facility has been unable to locate it in its files, Ms. Royston provided the *original* Arbitration Agreement bearing her signature to the Facility at the time of her admission and was provided a *copy* for her own records, which she kept.

2. The Court of Appeals erred in not recognizing the circuit court's incorrect conclusion that there was a lack of mutual assent because the Facility did not sign the Arbitration Agreement.

The Facility made an offer to Ms. Royston when it presented the Arbitration Agreement to her for her consideration. Ms. Royston did not propose any changes to the Arbitration Agreement, i.e., she did not make a counteroffer, but rather

accepted the offer according to its *exact terms*, signing the Arbitration Agreement as is. (R. p. 228.)

In her memorandum in opposition to the Motion to Compel Arbitration, Plaintiff cited *Pennsylvania* law in support of her argument that the Facility's signature is required to have a valid, enforceable contract; however, this is not the rule under *South Carolina* law. South Carolina has long recognized that the mutual assent required to form a binding contract can exist even absent the signature of one of the contracting parties. *Jaffe v. Gibbons*, 290 S.C. 468, 473, 351 S.E.2d 343, 346 (Ct. App. 1986); *see also Bulwinkle v. Cramer*, 27 S.C. 376 (1887); *Bishop Realty & Rentals v. Perk, Inc.*, 292 S.C. 182, 355 S.E.2d 298 (Ct. App. 1987); *Laidlaw Envt'l Servs., (TOC), Inc. v. Honeywell, Inc.*, 966 F. Supp. 1401, 2409 (D.S.C. 1996). "It has long been a paradigm of South Carolina law that when a contract signed by one party only is accepted by the other party, it becomes binding upon both just as if it were signed by both." *Jaffe*, 290 S.C. at 473, 351 S.E.2d at 346; *see id.* ("A contract does not always require the signature of both parties; it may be sufficient, if signed by one and accepted and acted on by the other."); *see also Bulwinkle*, 27 S.C. 376.

Certainly, the Facility assented to the terms of the Arbitration Agreement, as evidenced by its drafting and presenting the same to Ms. Royston (with the Facility's and her name written in the appropriate blanks) for her consideration,

whereupon Ms. Royston manifested her agreement by signing the Arbitration Agreement as presented to her. Without question, there was a “meeting of the minds,” with each party manifesting assent and intent to form this particular contract. Again, Ms. Royston signed the Arbitration Agreement and thus is “presumed to have read, understood, and assented to its terms.” *Gibson*, 426 S.C. at 352, 827 S.E.2d at 181. And, respectfully, to conclude that assent to the Arbitration Agreement is in any way lacking on the part of the Facility, the party who drafted and presented the Arbitration Agreement to Ms. Royston—and who expressly filed its answer “*subject to and without waiving its rights to compel this matter to arbitration*,”²³ even before Plaintiff’s counsel produced the Arbitration Agreement, and promptly moved to compel arbitration thereunder once they did—is absurd.

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