THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Nov 22 2022

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Robin B. Stillwell, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-001406

Estate of Patricia Royston, by and Respondent,
through the appointed personal representative,
Marianne McCoig, individually and on
behalf on the statutory beneficiaries,

v.

Hunt Valley Holdings, LLC, a/k/a
Fundamental Long-Term Care Holdings, LLC;
Fundamental Clinical and Operational
Services, LLC; Fundamental Administrative
Services, LLC; THI of South Carolina at
Magnolia Place at Greenville, LLC d/b/a
Magnolia Place-Greenville, Petitioners.

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

Instead, the Petition speaks in often dismissive terms to simply disagree with the lower courts’ evaluation of the evidence.³ Petitioners’ disagreement with the outcome below and alternative view of the evidence does not meet this Court’s criteria for discretionary review. See

² See also (R. p. 5) (quoting Laser Supply & Servs., Inc. v. Orchard Park Assocs., 382 S.C. 326, 334, 676 S.E.2d 139, 143-44 (Ct. App. 2009)).

³ E.g. (Pet. at 14) (arguing that to cite the Facility’s lack of signature when considering evidence of mutual assent was “absurd”).

Rule 242(b), SCACR. Plus, the review the Petition seeks would place the Court in the unusual position of having to (1) conduct an amateur handwriting analysis without expert guidance (Pet. at 9-10 and n. 18); (2) assume a sequence of events surrounding Ms. Royston's admission to the Facility without testimony from any Facility representative (Pet. at 11); and (3) conclude Ms. Royston delivered the Arbitration Agreement to the Facility even though Petitioners, a billion-dollar national organization (R. p. 17 ¶ 6), has zero evidence the document was ever within the Facility's possession. (Pet. at 11-12). Even Petitioners' counsel admits this last point is no more than a "hypothesis." (R. p. 32, line 6). While the Petition insists it is "patently improbable" and "wholly speculative" to think Ms. Royston chose not to deliver the Arbitration Agreement to the Facility (Pet. at 11), counsel told the circuit court that prospect was "a worthy point for sure." (R. p. 186, lines 13-14).

In sum, while Petitioners dispute the lower courts' finding of no contract, they do not challenge the selection or application of any legal principle used to reach that finding. Nor have Petitioners offered any evidence to prove a valid contract was formed here. Thus, the lower courts' rulings were sound, and the Facility's request for a third chance to rehash its insufficient evidentiary showing should be denied.

1. The Court of Appeals correctly applied South Carolina law in considering the Arbitration Agreement's absence from the Facility's files.

The fact that the Facility does not have the Arbitration Agreement in its files is probative for both parts of the mutual assent requirement for contract formation. The Court of Appeals correctly determined this fact supported the conclusion that Ms. Royston never objectively manifested assent of the Arbitration Agreement to the Facility. Moreover, the Court of Appeals could have just as easily held the document's absence proved the Facility could not prove its own objective manifestation of assent.

a. The absent Arbitration Agreement is uncontroverted evidence showing Ms. Royston did not objectively manifest assent to its terms.

Since the Facility sought arbitration, it was the Facility's burden to prove all the required components of contract formation. Minnieland Private Day Sch., Inc. v. Applied Underwriters Captive Risk Assur. Co., 867 F.3d 449, 456 (4th Cir. 2017) (citing Adkins v. Labor Ready, Inc., 303 F.3d 496, 500-01 (4th Cir. 2002) ("a defendant who seeks to compel arbitration under the Federal Arbitration Act bears the burden of establishing the existence of a binding contract to arbitrate the dispute").⁴ Contract formation demands mutual assent of the proposed parties. Edens v. Laurel Hill, Inc., 271 S.C. 360, 364, 247 S.E.2d 434, 436 (1978) (citing Kitchens v. Lee, 221 S.C. 59, 69 S.E.2d 67 (1952)). A contract party assents only through her objective manifestations. Rodarte v. Univ. of S.C., 419 S.C. 592, 603, 799 S.E.2d 912, 917-18 (2017) (quoting Laser Supply & Servs., Inc., 382 S.C. at 334, 676 S.E.2d at 143-44). As the Court of Appeals recognized, this objective manifestation requirement means a party in Ms. Royston's position only assented if her purported acceptance of the Arbitration Agreement's terms was "actually or constructively communicated" to the Facility. Royston, Unpublished Op. No. 2022-UP-203, at 3 (citing Connor v. Renneker, 25 S.C. 514, 517-18 (1886)). In other words, assent is "based on purpose and intention *which has been made known*" to the counterparty. Player v. Chandler, 299 S.C. 101, 105, 382 S.E.2d 891, 894 (1989) (emphasis added).

The circuit court evaluated the evidence to determine whether the Facility proved Ms. Royston communicated assent to the Arbitration Agreement to the Facility. Since proof of assent is a question of fact, the circuit court's evaluation of the evidence was entitled to deference on

⁴ See also Maro v. Lewis, 389 S.C. 216, 697 S.E.2d 684, 688 (Ct. App. 2010) (quoting Fuller v. E. Fire & Cas. Ins. Co., 240 S.C. 75, 89, 124 S.E.2d 602, 610 (1962) ("This being an action for breach of contract, the burden was upon the [plaintiff] to prove the contract . . .").

appeal. Jaffe v. Gibbons, 290 S.C. 468, 471, 351 S.E.2d 343, 345 (Ct. App. 1986) (finding that whether parties reached the required “meeting of the minds” for a proposed contract is a question of fact); see also Wilson v. Willis, 426 S.C. 326, 335, 827 S.E.2d 167 (2019) (citing Aiken v. World Fin. Corp. of S.C., 373 S.C. 144, 148, 644 S.E.2d 705, 707 (2007)). An appellate court must not reverse the trial court’s factual findings if “any evidence reasonably supports those findings.” Wilson, 426 S.C. at 335, 827 S.E.2d at 172 (citing Aiken, 373 S.C. at 148, 644 S.E.2d at 707).

The uncontested fact that the Facility does not have the Arbitration Agreement is material evidence showing Ms. Royston did not actually or constructively communicate to the Facility assent to the Arbitration Agreement’s terms. The Facility did not offer any contrary evidence to prove a signed version of the Arbitration Agreement was ever in its possession. Thus, the Court of Appeals fully followed South Carolina contract law in determining the Facility’s admission that it cannot find the Arbitration Agreement “reasonably supports” the circuit court’s ruling on this factual question. Royston, Unpublished Op. No. 2022-UP-203, at 3. The Petition argues it is speculative to find the Facility’s inability to produce the contract supports the conclusion that Ms. Royston never delivered it to the Facility. But, there is nothing speculative about concluding absence of delivery of a document the alleged recipient cannot produce and has no record of. Petitioners’ counsel has conceded the notion that Ms. Royston chose not to, and never did, transmit the Arbitration Agreement to the Facility rises well above speculation. Compare (R. p. 186, lines 13-14) (“it’s a worthy point, for sure”) with Webster’s Third New Int’l Dictionary 2189 (2002) (defining speculation to mean “mere guesswork,” “surmise,” or “conjecture”).

Plus, it’s the Facility’s theory that requires guesswork. The Facility wanted the circuit court to believe Ms. Royston delivered a signed version of the Arbitration Agreement to the Facility even though the Facility cannot now produce it. The Facility has no record of ever receiving this

proposed document. Nor can the Facility produce the testimony of any of its employees who allegedly collected it. Thus, the Facility which, along with the other Petitioners operate a nationwide set of skilled nursing facilities, asks the Court to surmise that it receives important legal documents without retaining them, creating a digital copy, or making any other notation that the document has been obtained. All of this shoddy recordkeeping is to be assumed without the testimony of any Facility representative on how it handles contracts either in general or specifically Ms. Royston's supposed delivery of the Arbitration Agreement. In short, the Court of Appeals correctly performed its limited scope of review by finding the evidence did not support a finding of mutual assent, and the Court should decline the Facility's invitation to grant discretionary review to further air its speculative theory.

b. The Facility's admitted failure to "hold" any purported copy of the Arbitration Agreement is further evidence against mutual assent.

Under long-standing South Carolina law, the Facility's admitted failure to retain the Arbitration Agreement it allegedly received from Ms. Royston means the Facility cannot prove mutual assent. Since it did not sign the Arbitration Agreement, the Facility may show it assented to the contract only with proof that the Facility "accepted, held, and acted upon" the Arbitration Agreement. Peddler, 266 S.C. at 32, 221 S.E.2d at 117 (quoting Gladden v. Keistler, 141 S.C. 524, 140 S.E. 161, 164 (1927)).⁵ The Facility admits it did not "hold" the Arbitration Agreement. Both at the circuit court hearing and in Court of Appeals' briefing, the Facility acknowledged it cannot produce the original Arbitration Agreement and that the Facility has never located even a copy in

⁵ Courts applying South Carolina law continue to apply the Peddler rule even in more recent cases. See Dan Ryan Builders W. Va., LLC v. Main St. Am. Assur. Co., 452 F. Supp. 3d 338, 349 (D.S.C. 2020) (citing Peddler and holding that "[a]cceptance of a contract by assenting to its terms, holding it and acting upon it, may be equivalent to a formal execution by one who did not sign it"); Coves Darden, LLC v. Ibanez, Op. No. 2016-UP-402, 2016 WL 4379419, at * 2 (S.C. Ct. App. 2016).

its own records. (R. p. 184, lines 13-15) (“it’s absolutely true . . . that we don’t have a copy of” the Arbitration Agreement); Appellants’ Br. at 7 (“the Facility has been unable to locate the Arbitration Agreement . . .”). The “holding” requirement from Peddler demands at the very least that the party seeking enforcement maintained a copy of the purported contract. Bishop Realty & Rentals, Inc. v. Perk, Inc., 292 S.C. 182, 185, 355 S.E.2d 298, 300 (Ct. App. 1987) (applying Peddler rule only because evidence showed the party seeking enforcement “retained a copy of the signed instrument for its files”).

In sum, the Court of Appeals correctly counted the Arbitration Agreement’s absence from the Facility’s files as evidence against a finding of assent by Ms. Royston. This evidence is similarly important to show the Facility lacks the required evidence to prove its own objective manifestation of assent. Without proof of mutual assent, the Court of Appeals correctly determined the Facility failed to meet its burden to prove the formation of a valid arbitration contract.

2. The Facility’s failure to sign the purported Arbitration Agreement further evidences a lack of mutual assent.

The Facility alone drafted the form Arbitration Agreement and unambiguously designated signatures from all involved parties as the sole means for manifesting assent to its terms. Since the Facility then chose not to sign the Arbitration Agreement, South Carolina law states that it has not proved mutual assent to the Arbitration Agreement’s terms.

Under long-standing South Carolina law, when a contract demands all parties’ signatures, it is ineffective until all parties have signed. Dean, 229 S.C. at 436, 93 S.E.2d at 208. In Dean, the South Carolina Supreme Court affirmed a circuit court’s refusal to enforce a proposed contract that demanded five parties’ signature but included only four. Id. As Dean explained

The reason for holding the instrument void is it was intended that all the parties should execute it and that each executes it on the implied condition that it is to be

executed by the others, and, therefore, that until executed by all, it is inchoate and incomplete and never takes effect as a valid contract.

Id. (quoting 17 C.J.S., Contracts § 62 at 412). The same principle applies here. Since the Facility chose dual signatures as the designated means by which the Arbitration Agreement was to be executed, the Facility's failure to sign renders the Arbitration Agreement "inchoate and incomplete" such that the circuit court was correct to find it "never takes effect as a valid contract."

The lower courts' rulings are also consistent with a number of cases from other jurisdictions finding that a nursing home may not enforce a purported arbitration contract the home chose not to sign. The Arkansas Supreme Court has ruled a nursing home's failure to sign a series of arbitration contract on the line designated for its signature "is fatal to the validity of these agreements." Robinson Nursing & Rehab. Ctr., LLC v. Phillips, 586 S.W.3d 624, 635 (Ark. 2019). Without the signature the contracts called for, the home could not meet its burden to demonstrate an objective manifestation of intent. Id. at 635-36; see also Pine Hills Health & Rehab., LLC v. Matthews, 431 S.W.3d 910, 915 (Ark. 2014) (holding that, while there are ways to prove assent other than a signature, a nursing home failed to prove its assent to an unsigned arbitration contract). In 2015, a Pennsylvania court held a nursing home that drafted an arbitration contract calling for its signature but failed to sign did not assent merely by presenting the proposed contract to a prospective nursing home resident. Bair v. Manor Care of Elizabethtown, PA, LLC, 108 A.3d 94, 98 (Pa. Super. 2015) ("By failing to affix its signature, [the nursing home] did not consent to arbitrate"). Similarly, a Tennessee federal district court rejected a nursing home's attempt to compel arbitration when it failed to sign a proposed arbitration agreement even though the nursing home offered an affidavit from its general manager claiming the absent signature did not indicate a lack of assent. Caldwell v. SSC Lebanon Operating Co., LLC, Civil Action No. 3:16-cv-0036, 2016 WL 3905670 (M.D. Tenn. July 19, 2016) (quoting Flanary v. Carl Gregory Dodge of Johnson

City, LLC, No. E2004-00620-COA-R3-CV, 2005 WL 1277850, at * 9 (Tenn. App. May 31, 2005) (rejecting affidavit as “nothing more than a post-commencement of litigation statement” insufficient to make objective manifestation of assent).

Thus, the Court of Appeals followed South Carolina law in finding the Facility’s missing signature as probative evidence on the crucial assent question. Pursuant to Dean, the Facility’s choice not to sign is fatal to its attempt to prove mutual assent. Moreover, the Court of Appeals’ ruling is right in line with rulings from around the country refusing to permit a nursing home to force arbitration under similar circumstances. Since both binding and persuasive authority support the Court of Appeals’ opinion, there is no need for further appellate review.

3. The Court of Appeals correctly declined to address the remaining issues raised by the parties.

The Court of Appeals’ proper evaluation of the contract formation evidence mooted the remaining issues raised by the parties. Since the Facility failed to prove a valid arbitration contract, the Court of Appeals correctly chose not to address the Facility’s objection to the circuit court’s alternative basis for refusing to compel arbitration. Royston, Unpublished Op. No. 2022-UP-203, at 3 (citing Futch v. McAllister Towing of Georgetown, Inc., 335 S.C. 598, 613, 518 S.E.2d 591, 598 (1999)). The lack of mutual assent likewise mooted the additional sustaining grounds Respondent cited in her briefs including arguments that the purported Arbitration Agreement was unconscionable and inapplicable to Respondent’s wrongful death claim. See Resp’t Br. at 13-35.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments stated above, Respondent respectfully requests the Court deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. The Court of Appeals’ unanimous, unreported memorandum opinion correctly considered the Facility’s inability to produce a copy of the purported Arbitration Agreement and its failure to sign when affirming the circuit court’s ruling that the Facility did not

meet its burden to prove a valid arbitration contract. The Court of Appeals' decision is further supported by the unambiguous rules from Peddler and Dean, along with a number of similar cases from other jurisdictions. In the face of this substantial binding and persuasive authority, the Facility offers nothing but speculation to prove assent. In the end, the Court of Appeals' ruling was correct, and Petitioners offer no legitimate basis for further appellate review.